## S217896

No.

(Court of Appeal No. F065450, consolidated with F065451 and F065689 (Kern County Superior Court Nos. CV-276959 and CV-276961)

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Plaintiff/Respondent

APR 1 8 2014

v.

KIRNPAL GREWAL, et al., Defendant and Appellant



Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

2nd

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

## WESTON, GARROU & MOONEY

John H. Weston (SBN 46146) johnhweston@wgdlaw.com G. Randall Garrou (SBN 74442) randygarrou@wgdlaw.com Jerome H. Mooney (SBN 199542) jeromemooney@mooneylaw.com 12121 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 525 Los Angeles, CA 90025

Telephone: (310) 442-0072 Facsimile: (310) 442-0899

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. Does Penal Code § 330b, which defines a "slot machine," require that the results generated by the machine be the product of random or chance operation, as held by the court of appeal in *Trinkle v. California State Lottery*, 105 Cal.App.4th 1401 (3d Dist. 2003) ("*Trinkle II*"), or was the court of appeal below correct in rejecting *Trinkle II*'s holding and adopting its own materially different standard?
- 2. Was the court of appeal below correct in rejecting *Trinkle II*'s conclusion that insertion of a physical object in order to trigger operation of the machine is a required element of Penal Code §330b?
- 3. Did the court of appeal below correctly conclude that *Trinkle II* was wrong in ruling that a "slot machine," as defined in any of California's slot machines statutes, must be a house banked game?
- 4. May a business, consistent with the state and federal constitutional guarantees of due process of law and the doctrine of stare decisis, be enjoined for allegedly violating a criminal statute where its operation is based on, and consistent with, a ten year old published court of appeal decision which authoritatively construed the statute?

#### INTRODUCTION

This Petition raises an important issue regarding the appropriate construction of a criminal statute<sup>1</sup> which has been construed materially differently by two different courts of appeal in published decisions. Under the pre-existing (2003) decision, Petitioners' conduct would be entirely lawful; however under the opinion of the court of appeal below (which expressly rejects the earlier opinion in its entirety), Petitioners' conduct would be illegal and subject them and countless others to essentially limitless confiscatory fines, penalties and other various sanctions. This

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Albeit in a civil enforcement action under BPC § 17200, et seq..

conflict, unless resolved by this Court, will now create chaos throughout the State regarding the status and scope of the law. (The court of appeal opinion herein is *People v. Grewal*, 224 Cal.App.4th 527 (5th Dt. 2014), hereafter referred to as "*Grewal*".)

Petitioners are subject to an enforcement proceeding under Business and Professions Code (BPC) § 17200 et seq. seeking interim and permanent injunctive relief and enormous potential monetary damages and penalties based upon the theory that the sweepstakes program they used to promote their computer/Internet rental businesses rendered each of their computers an illegal "slot machine" as defined in Penal Code § 330b(d).

Petitioners' computer-based sweepstakes program complied with the comprehensive and authoritative interpretation of that statute by the court of appeal in *Trinkle v. California State Lottery*, 105 Cal.App.4th 1401 (3rd Dist. 2003) ("*Trinkle II*") (without which interpretation the California State Lottery's Scratchers' Vending Machines – hereafter "SVMs" – would have been found to be illegal slot machines). *Trinkle II* articulated a three part test for a "slot machine":

"[T]he elements of a slot machine are (1) the insertion of money or other object which causes the machine to operate, (2) the operation of the machine is unpredictable and governed by chance, and (3) by reason of the chance operation of the machine, the user may become entitled to receive a thing of value." 105 Cal.App.4th at 1410.

However, the court of appeal below expressly *rejected* every element of *Trinkle II's* above-quoted construction of the statute, drastically expanding its scope and thereby subjecting Petitioners to *enormous* potential liability.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> At the same time, it necessarily compelled the conclusion that the State Lottery's SVMs are all illegal slot machines.

Grewal arose from preliminary injunctive rulings. On remand, Petitioners will imminently face an attempt to impose essentially unlimited potential civil penalties based on the ruling of the court of appeal, absent intervention by this Court.

Grewal raises four significant questions of law requiring resolution by this Court, three of which involve the correct definition of "slot machine," and a fourth involving whether, under the doctrine of strict construction of penal statutes, the state and/or federal constitutional due process guarantees, or stare decisis, business operators are entitled to the benefit of a pre-existing favorable interpretation of a state statute rendered by a court of appeal in a published opinion, under which their business would be unquestionably lawful.

Apart from eliminating the foregoing potential chaos and unfairness from all future applications of a significant state criminal statute, review is also necessary to prevent two potential *absurd* consequences flowing from the *Grewal* opinion.

First, by interpreting Penal Code 330b not to require the insertion of a physical object in order to activate the machine, and thereby expanding "slot machine" to include *any* device that delivers the result of a potential prize which is *unpredictable to the recipient*, *Grewal* criminalizes possession of all personal computers and cell phones used to ascertain or deliver results of numerous commercial sweepstakes and/or giveaway programs run by household name national and international companies.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> PC § 330b(a) makes it a crime to "possess" a slot machine. PC § 330b(d) defines as a "slot machine" not only those devices which have actually been "adapted . . . for use" as a slot machine, but even those which "may readily be converted for use" as a slot machine. Technically, this makes possession of *any* computer or cell phone capable of connection to the Internet a crime, even if such devices have not actually been *used* to connect to an Internet sweepstakes program. However, Petitioners will

Any interpretation which would unwittingly criminalize a large portion of California residents surely constitutes the sort of absurd result which two of the three justices signing the *Grewal* opinion very recently concluded must compel a reevaluation of facial statutory language. *See People v. Spriggs*, 224 Cal.App.4th 150, 155 (5th Dist. 2014), stating:

"Absurd or unjust results will never be ascribed to the Legislature, and a literal construction of a statute will not be followed if it is opposed to its legislative intent." (Emphasis added.)

Accord: In re JB, 178 Cal.App.4th 751, 756 (5th Dt. 2009).

Second, by expressly rejecting the holding in *Trinkle II*, *Grewal* creates great doubt as to the legality of the California State Lottery's ubiquitous SVMs.

Trinkle II rejected a claim that the California State Lottery's SVMs were illegal "slot machines," primarily by authoritatively interpreting Penal Code § 330b (and its companion, § 330.1) to require that a "slot machine" under either statute must, itself, generate the chance result by operating in a random manner. The court concluded that it is immaterial under those statutes that the result is merely unknown to the user. What controls is whether the result is determined by random or chance operation of the machine. 105 Cal.App.4th at 1410-1411. By expressly rejecting that interpretation of § 330b (see 224 Cal.App.4th at 541), Grewal unquestionably criminalizes SVMs and those who permit their operation, placement or maintenance on their premises. That would appear to be another absurd and unintended consequence of Grewal's interpretation.

focus only on § 330b's application to any cell phones or personal computers actually used to participate in any Internet-based sweepstakes program.

Additionally, in arriving at its holding that SVMs are not "slot machines," *Trinkle II* held that "slot machines" are house banked games and, therefore, because SVMs are *not* house banked games, they cannot be "slot machines." 105 Cal.App.4th at 1412. *Grewal* expressly rejected that alternative holding of *Trinkle II*. 224 Cal.App.4th at 547. Consequently, if *Grewal* is allowed to become final, it will create the absurd and certainly unintended consequence of potentially rendering a major component of the California State Lottery system illegal.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioners operated similar retail businesses in Bakersfield, California. They provided computers to the public for on-site rental, along with full Internet and email access. Their computers offered a wide variety of useful business and other software programs (word processing, spreadsheets, etc.), as well as video tutorials for their use.

Petitioners utilized the same sweepstakes program to promote their businesses. Customers acquired sweepstakes points with the purchase of computer time. Free sweepstakes entries were also available, and no purchase was necessary to participate in the sweepstakes. Sweepstakes results could be ascertained in three different ways: by: (i) asking an employee to reveal the result; (ii) pushing the "instant reveal" button at the user's rented computer station; or (iii) having the results revealed via a video *simulation* of a common game of chance.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> They are "simulations" because, in a *real* game, the customer's interaction would affect the outcome. However, in these video *simulations* of games, nothing the customers did could change the predetermined outcome.

Regardless of which method was used, the identical result would be revealed. This was because the software, regardless of the method used to reveal the result, merely electronically displayed the next pre-determined result. The results were preloaded in an exact sequence by the software provider in advance of being installed in Petitioner's computers, and Petitioners had no ability to alter that sequence.

In short, there was no chance *operation* of Petitioners' computers; they generated no result – they merely revealed the next in line of the sequence of results which had been previously established when the software was installed. The only element of chance was from the perspective of the customer – not from the operation of the computer.

Because the computers involved no chance operation which determined the results, but merely involved revealing the next sequentially pre-loaded result, they functioned, from a legal perspective, exactly like the California State Lottery Scratchers Vending Machines (SVMs) which the court of appeal found *not* to be slot machines in *Trinkle v. California State Lottery*, 105 Cal.App.4th 1401 (3d Dist. 2003) ("*Trinkle II*"). Petitioners' computers, just like the SVMs in *Trinkle II*, simply delivered to a customer the next in line result (i.e., a virtual card in a preloaded stack of virtual cards). In both cases: (1) the user did not know the result before turning it over, and (2) the result is not the product of any chance or random operation of the machine.

Additionally, unlike the *Trinkle* SVMs (which were activated by inserting actual currency), no object of any type was ever *inserted* into Petitioners' computers in order to activate them. Instead, the user typed in a PIN code obtained when computer services were first purchased.

Lastly, as in any sweepstakes program, the total amount of prizes that would be paid out by Petitioners' business was fixed in advance. Petitioners were not pitted against their customers and had no interest in the outcome of any particular sweepstakes entry. Accordingly, Petitioners' sweepstakes programs did not operate as a *house banked* game (unlike a true "slot machine," which operates so that the owner and the user are at odds with each other and compete for the stake each time the handle is pulled).

Respondent filed separate actions against each Petitioner in Kern County Superior Court asserting that they were engaged in unlawful business practices in violation of Business and Professions Code § 17200 on the dual theories that they were operating "slot machines" in violation of three different slot machine statutes, Penal Code §§ 330a, 330b and 330.1, and a "lottery" in violation of Penal Code § 319.<sup>5</sup> The Complaint sought interim and permanent injunctive relief and virtually unlimited civil monetary penalties under BPC §§ 17200 *et seq*.

Although the trial court initially denied a requested Temporary Restraining Order against these two Petitioners (although *granting* a Restraining Order that same day against another defendant operating a different system), it ultimately preliminarily enjoined Petitioners' sweepstakes pending trial; this appeal followed. Trial was stayed pending the outcome of the appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Petitioners provided uncontroverted evidence below that their businesses did not operate a lottery because they provided free game options. See California Gasoline Retailers v Regal Petroleum, 50 Cal.2d 844 (1958). The court of appeal did not address this issue, and it is not germane to the present Petition.

The court of appeal analyzed the complaint only under the definition of "slot machine" found in Penal Code § 330b on the theory that it was the most broadly worded of the three "slot machine" statutes. It affirmed the judgment below after rejecting *Trinkle II* on every single issue of law with respect to the definition of "slot machine" under PC § 330b. In pertinent part, it stated:

"Trinkle II held that the chance element must be created by a randomizing process occurring at the moment the machine or device is being played. (Trinkle II, supra, at p. 1411, 129 Cal.Rptr.2d 904.) As will be explained below, we think that holding was in error. . . . [W]e adopt a different approach here than what was articulated in that case." 224 Cal.App.4th at 541 (emphasis added).

*Grewal* held that, rather than requiring proof of random operation of the machine itself (as was critical to the ruling in *Trinkle II*):

"this element of the statute (commonly referred to as the chance element) can be satisfied [merely] by showing that a prize may be won by reason of an "outcome of operation unpredictable" to the *user*." *Id.* (Emphasis added.)

Next, although *Trinkle II* explained (albeit in dictum) that a required element of the statute is insertion of some type of physical "object," *Grewal* rejected that as well, concluding that typing in a PIN is sufficient to satisfy the insertion requirement. *Id.* at 542.

Finally, *Grewal* rejected *Trinkle II's* conclusion (*see* 105 Cal.App.4th at 1407 and 1412) that a "slot machine" must be a *house banked game*:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See 105 Cal.App.4th at 1410: "[T]he elements of a slot machine are (1) the insertion of money or other *object* which causes the machine to operate." (Emphasis added.)

"Finally, defendants argue their integrated systems cannot be slot machines on the ground that they are not house-banked games in which the owner has an interest or stake in the outcome. (See Trinkle II, supra, 105 Cal.App.4th at p. 1412 [so indicating].) We disagree with the premise that only a house-banked game may constitute an unlawful slot machine or device." 224 Cal.App.4th at 547 (emphasis added).

In short, *Grewal* declared itself in conflict with every aspect of *Trinkle II* under which Petitioners' business operations were unquestionably lawful.

Petitioners filed a Petition for Rehearing (a copy of which is attached hereto) bringing to the court of appeal's attention, *inter alia*, the absurd consequence of its decision to the extent it would make criminals of all who possess cell phones and personal computers used to participate in widespread commercial sweepstakes and giveaway programs run by national and multi-national companies. The Petition for Rehearing was denied without opinion on March 26, 2014.

#### REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

I. THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO RESOLVE THE *EXPRESSED* CONFLICT BETWEEN *GREWAL* AND *TRINKLE II* REGARDING THE DEFINITION OF "SLOT MACHINE" UNDER PENAL CODE § 330b.

As *Grewal* recognized, its interpretation of the meaning of Penal Code § 330b is *substantially* different from that of the Third District Court of Appeal in *Trinkle II*. *Grewal's* definition differs from *Trinkle II's* in at least *three* distinct respects: (1) the "chance operation" element of a slot machine may now be met solely on proof of an outcome unpredictable to the user, even if the result is not generated by any hazard or chance

operation of the machine; (2) a "slot machine" need not be activated by insertion of any type of physical object; and (3) "slot machines" are not limited to house banked games.

In contrast, under *Trinkle II*, all of the above are (and have long been) elements of a "slot machine" under § 330b. These conflicts must be resolved by this Court to avoid a material dichotomy between two diametrically opposite constructions of that statute throughout the state.

- II. THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW BECAUSE OF THE GREAT LIKELIHOOD OF LEGISLATIVELY UNINTENDED ABSURD CONSEQUENCES FLOWING FROM THE COURT OF APPEAL'S PUBLISHED OPINION
  - A. By interpreting Penal Code § 330b as not requiring insertion of any tangible physical object to activate the machine, and including as a "slot machine" any device that delivers a potential prize which is unpredictable to the recipient, the court of appeal opinion criminalizes the general public's possession of all personal computers and cell phones used to ascertain results from a wide variety of generally-accepted commercial sweepstakes and/or giveaway programs.

Under *Grewal's* interpretation of Penal Code § 330b, the term "slot machine" no longer requires *either* that any tangible physical object be inserted into the device *or* that the device operate in a random or chance manner. If courts follow *Grewal*, it will now be sufficient to be a prohibited "slot machine" that a device used to ascertain unpredictable results merely be activated by inputting any type of user code. This interpretation, even if somewhat supported by the statutory facial language, leads to absurd results which surely could not have been intended by the Legislature. Specifically, use of sweepstakes programs by many nationally well-known companies, e.g., McDonald's, FedEx, Albertsons, Wal-Mart,

Coca-Cola, etc. has become commonplace, and many, if not all, of their programs now require use of a computer or mobile device with Internet access in order to fully participate in these promotions and learn whether one has won at least some aspect of the prize packages offered by these companies.<sup>7</sup> One going online to ascertain whether a prize has been won must typically input an identification or prize code received with the purchase of the company's product.

In short, each of these sweepstakes programs requires the inputting of some alpha-numeric code into a device in order to use that device to learn whether one has won a prize, a procedure which *Grewal* has now made criminal.

Because mere possession of a "slot machine" is a crime under PC § 330b(a), *Grewal*, if followed, makes criminals of innumerable Californians.<sup>8</sup> This surely is the type of legislatively unintended absurd

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Some of these companies provide prizes both on site *and* online. See, e.g., Monopoly Game at McDonalds (http://www.playatmcd.com/Rules) and Albertsons Monopoly Sweepstakes at (https://albertsons.playmonopoly.us/view/rules).

Others provide prizes *exclusively* via an online connection. *See*, *e.g.*, Coca Cola's "My Coke Rewards Loyalty Program" (http://www.mycokerewards.com/MCRRules.do), FedEx's "Ship on the Fly Sweepstakes" http://www.fedex.com/us/mobile/sweepstakes/58068\_FedExShiptoFlySweepstakesRulesFINAL11.28.12).pdf) and Wal-Mart Sweepstakes (http://survey.walmart.com/Surveys/WM/StoreTrak/rules\_date\_en.htm?dat e=04/15/2014).

<sup>8</sup> This statute would also criminalize those businesses which operate (and those which promote or facilitate) such sweepstakes programs, to the extent the second (unnumbered) paragraph of § 330b makes it a crime "to make or to permit the making of an agreement with another person regarding any slot machine or device, by which the user of the slot machine or device, as a result of the element of hazard or chance or other unpredictable outcome, may become entitled to receive [any] . . . thing of value." All of these programs require the online user to click a box agreeing to the terms of use for the online site.

result which counsels against any such statutory construction, even if it may otherwise have support in the facial language of the statute. Again, *see Spriggs*, *supra*, 224 Cal.App.4th at 155, stating:

"Absurd or unjust results will never be ascribed to the Legislature, and a literal construction of a statute will not be followed if it is opposed to its legislative intent." (Emphasis added.)

B. By expressly rejecting the holding in *Trinkle II*, *Grewal* compels the conclusion that the California State Lottery's Scratchers vending machines are illegal slot machines.

But for the saving ruling in *Trinkle II*, the State Lottery's SVMs would be illegal *slot machines*. Although, as *Trinkle II* observed, the Legislature expressly authorized the state to run a lawful *lottery* (105 Cal.App.4th at 1406), it *never* authorized the state to operate or utilize *slot machines* in conducting that lottery. Moreover, the SVMs would not qualify under Penal Code § 330.5's "vending machine" slot machine exemption for two reasons: (1) § 330.5 exempts qualifying machines only from the slot machine provisions of § 330.1, *not* from those in § 330b, and (2) the vending machine exemption, as construed in *Trinkle v. Stroh*, 60 Cal.App.4th 771 (3d Dt. 1997) (*Trinkle I*), is unavailable to an SVM because the SVM user does not know in advance what the actual value will be of the purchased ticket. *See* 60 Cal.App.4th at 781-783. It might ultimately be worth nothing, or if a winner, it might be worth a great deal. Consequently, the dispositive "exact consideration" requirement of § 330.5 is not met. *Id.* 

It has been well over a decade since *Trinkle II* was decided, and the Legislature has not acted to exempt SVMs from the slot machine statutes,

apparently relying instead on *Trinkle II's* construction of §§ 330b and 330.1 which made any such exemption unnecessary. Had the Legislature disagreed with *Trinkle II's* interpretation of either of those statutes, it has had more than 10 years to amend them and clarify their vast potential scope<sup>9</sup>. Its failure to do so suggests that *Trinkle II*, rather than *Grewal*, had the better sense of the Legislature's intent.

Incontestably, courts choosing to follow *Grewal* rather than *Trinkle II* must likewise find the SVMs to be illegal slot machines under PC § 330b, an absurd result clearly unintended by the Legislature. Even if *Grewal's* interpretation of § 330b more closely hews to the statute's literal language than does *Trinkle II's*, facial language should not be slavishly followed when it would lead either to absurd or legislatively unintended consequences. Respectfully, this Court must grant review to resolve whether the Legislature intended the far reaching impact which *Grewal's* construction of § 330b will have on the California State Lottery.

In sum, the absurd irrefutable impact of *Grewal* will be twofold: (1) it will criminalize innumerable average citizens who have used (or will use) their cell phones or computers to ascertain whether they have won a prize in commercial sweepstakes programs; and (2) it will require all courts who follow it to find SVMs to be illegal slot machines.<sup>10</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> I.e., it would have unambiguously given them the broad scope which *Grewal* now reads into 330b. *See n.* 11, *infra* as to how simply this change could have been effected. Simultaneously, they would have then expressly exempted SVMs from the statute.

The mischief could go even further because § 330b(a) also makes criminals of those retail merchants who allow SVM machines on their premises. They would be subject to unfair competition lawsuits from their competitors.

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