SUPREME COURT IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

MAY - 8 2014

PEOPLE OF THE STATE O)F
CALIFORNIA,	

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

KIRNPAL GREWAL,

Defendant/Appellant.

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

V.

PHILLIP WALKER,

Defendant/Appellant.

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

JOHN C. STIDMAN.

Defendant/Appellant.

CASE NO. S217896

Deputy

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Appellate Case No: F065450,

consolidated with F065451, F065689

Kern County Sup Ct No. CV-276959

Appellate Case No: F065451, consolidated with F065450, F065689

Kern County Sup Ct No. CV-276961

Appellate Case No: F065689, consolidated with F065450, F065451

INTRODUCTION

Respondent, the People of the State of California, answer the two petitions for review challenging the California Court of Appeal for the Fifth District's published decision in *People v. Grewal et al.* (2014) 224 Cal.App.4th 527 (*Grewal*).¹

Petitioners operated internet café sweepstakes gambling schemes in Kern County. Petitioners purportedly offered legitimate retail business products, most prominently the sale of internet access time or computer time, which they promoted with a "sweepstakes" that patrons played most

¹ The People's answer addresses two petitions for review: (1) Petition of Appellants Kirnpal Grewal and Phillip Ernest Walker in People of the State of California v. Grewal, et al., Co. App. Case Nos. F065450 and F065451. Supreme Court Case No. S217896; and (2) Petition of Appellant John C. Stidman in People of the State of California v. Grewal, et al., Co. App. Case No. F065689, Supreme Court Case No. S217896. These two matters were consolidated for oral argument in the Court of Appeal, and now all three appellants have petitioned for review in this Court. Because the appellants challenge the same decision and raise very similar arguments in support of their petitions, the People address their petitions jointly herein. The People will refer to the two groups of appellants collectively as "Petitioners" in this brief. A petition for review challenging a separate unpublished decision by the same appellate court was filed in two other related consolidated sweepstakes gambling cases that were argued contemporaneously with Grewal. (People v. Nasser, et al., Co. App. Nos. F066645 & F066646 (Collectively, Nasser), Supreme Court Case No. S217979.) As recognized by the Court of Appeal, the only difference between Grewal and Nasser was that Nasser involved the purported sweepstakes promotion of the sale of long distance phone cards. (Grewal. supra, at p. 531, fn. 1.)

often using gambling-themed games.² The purported sweepstakes were operated using sophisticated computer software on computer networks in Petitioners' businesses. Patrons of Petitioners' businesses played the gambling-themed games on the software systems and won cash prizes. Petitioners' businesses were essentially mini-casinos that used integrated computer systems to evade California's gambling laws.

The Court of Appeal found that Petitioner's gambling schemes were unlawful under Penal Code section 330b. With much hyperbole, Petitioners misrepresent the Court of Appeal's decision—alleging it will create "chaos" and threaten promotional sweepstakes such as those used by McDonald's and Coca Cola. But the sky is not falling in the world of legitimate promotional sweepstakes—it has only collapsed on Petitioners' illegal internet café "sweepstakes" gambling schemes. Far from criminalizing lawful business promotions and home computers, the Court of Appeal's decision merely applied the established precedent of *People ex* rel. Bill Lockyer v. Pacific Gaming Technologies (2000) 82 Cal. App. 4th 699 (Lockyer), which dealt with a very similar sweepstakes gambling scheme, and held that the scheme was illegal under Penal Code section 330b. The Court of Appeal also relied upon the persuasive reasoning of a very recent decision of the United States District Court for the Southern

² The term "sweepstakes" is used solely to describe the ruse used by petitioners in their gambling schemes. This term is not intended to in any way connote that the schemes are legitimate or lawful.

District of California, which held that internet café sweepstakes gambling operations almost identical to Petitioners' schemes violated Penal Code section 330b. (Lucky Bob's Internet Café, LLC v. California Dept. of Justice, et al. (S.D.Cal. 2013) 2013 U.S. Dist. Lexis 62470 (Lucky Bob's).)

Instead of the on-point precedent relied upon by the Court of Appeal in its *Grewal* decision, Petitioners employ an expansive and unwarranted reading of *Trinkle v. California State Lottery* (2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 1401 (*Trinkle II*). In *Trinkle II*, the California Court of Appeal for the Third Appellate District held that the State Lottery's sale of lawful paper lottery tickets by means of an ordinary vending machine did not convert that vending machine into an illegal slot machine. (*Trinkle II*, supra, 105 Cal.App.4th at p. 1411.) The facts in *Trinkle II* are inapplicable to Petitioners' schemes. Indeed, Petitioners' operations are far more similar to the illegal sweepstakes gambling schemes that were at issue in the *Lockyer* and *Lucky Bob's* decisions.

Accordingly, review is not necessary to secure uniformity of decision and these petitions do not present a viable ground for review under California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1). The People request that this Court deny the petitions.

THERE ARE NO BASES TO GRANT REVIEW

A. There is no conflict between the Districts; *Trinkle II* is inapposite to the *Grewal Decision*.

While the Court of Appeal in *Grewal* took issue with some of *Trinkle II's* dicta, *Grewal* set forth the reasons why *Trinkle II* did not apply to Petitioner's illegal operations.

Trinkle II is distinguishable factually because, in the words of a recent federal district court decision, it involved a passive vending machine that "simply delivered a finished product--the lottery ticket." (Lucky Bob's Internet Café, LLC v. California Dept. of Justice (S.D.Cal. 2013) 2013 U.S.Dist. Lexis 62470, p. *8 (Lucky Bob's).) Here, in contrast, all the trappings and experiences involved in playing traditional slot machines are actualized in one form or another by defendants' sweepstakes software systems and networked computer terminals, since in each case points are received upon making a purchase, a game program is activated by the customer at a terminal, points are used or bet in selected increments. audio-visual scenes are played out on the screen to create the feel and anticipation of a slot machine or other gambling game, and prizes are won. For these reasons, the integrated systems in our case are in a different category than the vending machine in Trinkle II. The mere fact that winnings are based on a predetermined sequence of results programmed into the software system, rather than on a randomly spinning wheel (or the like), does not change the nature and character of devices herein, which as integrated systems function as slot machines.

(Grewal, supra, 224 Cal.App.4th at p. 545, fn. omitted, italics added.)

The *Grewal* court also endorsed the reasoning of the federal District Court in *Lucky Bob's*. In *Lucky Bob's*, the District Court heard arguments identical to the Petitioners' here. In *Lucky Bob's*, the District Court distinguished *Trinkle II*:

The [internet café sweepstakes gambling] system here is more similar to the vending machines at issue in *Lockyer*. In *Lockyer*, the vending machines dispensed pre-paid telephone cards, but also had a sweepstakes feature that randomly paid out money after playing visual and audio displays that mimicked a slot machine. [Citation.] Winners were determined by a preset computer program, which decided "predetermined winners spread out over a period of time." [Citation.] The court in *Lockyer* held that the vending machine was an illegal slot machine under Section 330. [Citation.]

(Lucky Bob's, supra, 2013 U.S. Dist. Lexis 62470, *9.)

In short, the Court of Appeal, like the federal District Court before it, simply distinguished *Trinkle II*, and found *Lockyer* to be the more applicable precedent to follow in relation to Petitioners' gambling schemes. The Court's decision in *Grewal* represents sound legal reasoning and does not create a conflict with *Trinkle II*—a case it did not rely upon.

In addition to properly relying upon California precedent, the Court of Appeal's decision in *Grewal* is in full accord with numerous non-California decisions addressing the illegal internet café "sweepstakes" gambling phenomenon. For example, the Alabama Supreme Court held that "Quincy's MegaSweeps" sweepstakes software system violated the state's gambling laws in *Barber v. Jefferson County Racing Association* (2006) 960 So.2d 599 [overruled on other ground by *Tyson v. Macon County* (2010) 43 So.3d 587, 591].) The Mississippi Court of Appeals held that a similar computer system that sold telephone cards along with offering "sweepstakes" prizes constituted a slot machine under Mississippi law in *Moore v. Mississippi Gaming Commission* (2011) 64 So.3d 537. The

United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit affirmed a criminal conviction of an internet café operator for illegal gambling under Texas state law in *United States v. Davis* (5th Cir. 2012) 690 F.3d 330. Far from being an anomalous case, *Grewal* is a mainstream case consistent with other state appellate court decisions addressing these same types of gambling systems.

B. The *Grewal* decision does not criminalize legitimate promotional sweepstakes

Petitioners, without any supporting evidence in the record on appeal, advance hypothetical scenarios asserting that the Grewal decision will criminalize sweepstakes promotions such as those offered by McDonald's and Coca Cola. In the context of claims of discriminatory enforcement, courts have consistently rebuffed other sweepstakes gambling schemes' efforts to compare themselves with legitimate retail sweepstakes promotions. (People v. Shira (1976) 62 Cal.App.3d 442, 464, fn. 15 [where the court refused to address a discriminatory prosecution argument on appeal because the record did not contain "an adequate showing of an intentional and purposeful singling out of defendants for prosecution on an 'invidious discrimination' basis"]; State of New Mexico v. Vento (2012) 286 P.2d 627, 634-635 [rejecting a criminal defendant's invitation to compare his internet café gambling scheme to promotions conducted by McDonald's, Coca-Cola or Albertson's]; see also Lockyer, supra, 82

Cal.App.4th at p. 704, fn. 7 [appellate court rejected claim by Venda Tel operator that its illegal device was lawful because Coca-Cola and M&M's also dispensed products from similar vending machines – appellate court observed that there was no evidence in the record to support such an argument].) Similarly, this Court should decline Petitioners' invitation to consider hypothetical scenarios not before it.

Moreover, the very similar holding in *Lockyer* did not result in adverse effects on legitimate promotional sweepstakes that Petitioners suggest will result here. Indeed, the claim that they conduct legitimate promotional sweepstakes is Petitioners' primary ruse—one used to sow doubt and confusion among law enforcement and the courts regarding the true nature of their gambling systems. But the mere denomination of something as a sweepstakes promotion does not make an otherwise illegal activity legal. (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17539.3, subd. (c); see also Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17539.5, subd. (a)(12).)

C. The Rule of Lenity has no application to these cases

Citing well-established and applicable precedent, the Court of Appeal's decision fully addressed the non-application of the rule of lenity to these matters. (*Grewal, supra*, 224 Cal.App.4th at pp. 538-539.) The Court found there was no ambiguity as to the meaning of Penal Code section 330b that would warrant the rule of lenity's application to

Petitioners' gambling schemes. (*Ibid.*) This Court has described California's multiple statutory definitions of slot machines as "broad." (*Hotel Employees & Restaurant Employees International Union v. Davis* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 585, 593-594.) There is no ambiguity as to the meaning of Penal Code section 330b, and certainly no reasonable competing statutory interpretation that requires the rule of lenity's application to this case. The language of the statute and the legislative intent are clear, and there is no reason to resort to the strained extension of *Trinkle II* proffered by Petitioners.

"Application of the rule of lenity ensures that criminal statutes will provide fair warning concerning conduct rendered illegal and strikes the appropriate balance between the legislature, the prosecutor, and the court in defining criminal liability. [Citation.]" (*Liparota v. United States* (1985) 471 U.S. 419, 427.) Petitioners here are not at all unwary and were on full notice of the risk of criminality in their actions. Indeed, their sweepstakes gambling systems are a deliberate and sophisticated attempt to circumvent state gambling laws. (See Dunbar & Russell, *The History of Internet Cafes and the Current Approach to Their Regulation* (2012) 3 U.N.L.V. Gaming L.J. 243.) This is certainly not a situation that warrants a new extension of the rule lenity, especially not to protect opportunistic criminals attempting to exploit what they see as loopholes in California's gambling laws.

CONCLUSION

Review of the Fifth District Court of Appeal's *Grewal* decision is not necessary to secure uniformity of decision nor is it necessary to settle an important question of law. Petitioners' dissatisfaction with the result of the *Grewal* decision is not proper grounds for review. The *Grewal* decision is wholly consistent with existing case law and California's gambling statutes, and does not warrant review by this Court.